BACTERIAL CELLULOSE PRODUCTION WITH GLUCONOACETOBACTER XYLINUS FROM HAZELNUT WASTE

A Thesis Submitted to the Graduate School of Engineering and Sciences of İzmir Institute of Technology in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

in Biotechnology

by Metehan GAZİOĞLU

> July 2024 İZMİR

We approve the thesis of METEHAN GAZİOĞLU

Examining Committee Members:

Prof. Dr. Anne FRARY Department of Molecular Biology and Genetics, İzmir Institute of Technology

Prof. Dr. Çağlar H. KARAKAYA Department of Molecular Biology and Genetics, İzmir Institute of Technology

Assoc. Dr. Çinel KÖKSAL YILDIRIM Department of Biology, Ege University

12 July 2024

Prof. Dr. Anne FRARY Supervisor, Department of Molecular Biology and Genetics

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Ali Oğuz BÜYÜKKİLECİ Head of the Department of Biotechnology Assoc. Prof. Dr. Ali Oğuz BÜYÜKKİLECİ Co- Supervisor, Department of Food Engineering

Prof. Dr. Mehtap EANES Dean of the Graduate School of Engineering and Sciences

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First of all, I would like to thank my advisor Prof. Dr. Anne FRARY for the benefits she provided to my academic development and for being always ready to help, willing, and devoted. The patience and respect shown by my teacher Prof. Dr. Anne FRARY during my master's degree helped me progress greatly. During this process, my co-advisor Assoc. Prof. Dr. Ali Oğuz BÜYÜKKİLECİ, who has the same dedication, willingly conveyed all his knowledge to me. Therefore, I would also like to thank my co-advisor Assoc. Prof. Dr. Ali Oğuz BÜYÜKKİLECİ for not leaving my questions unanswered and for trying to help me patiently. My academic career journey started when I entered the FRARY- DOĞANLAR laboratory. I owe my gratitude to my teacher Prof. Dr. Sami DOĞANLAR, who accepted me to this laboratory and in some cases even believed and trusted me more than I did. Prof. Dr. Sami DOĞANLAR is one of those who helped me get up when my morale was down.

I would like to thank my mentor Ezgi KESKİN TALDARİ, who helped me throughout my master's degree process, always supported me, advocated for me, and shared her academic and life experiences with me. Likewise, I would like to express my gratitude to Dr. Asena AKKÖSE BAYTAR and Ertuğrul Gazi YANAR, who shared their academic and life-related knowledge with me, with whom we were able to spend time and have fun. At the same time, the anime conversations we had gave me great pleasure. I am very happy that I had the chance to meet and spend time with the members of the FRARY-DOĞANLAR laboratory, who always helped me in the laboratory, with whom we shared our good and bad moments, and where I felt like I was part of a whole. Thank you to each of them for the moments we shared.

I would like to thank IZTECH BIOMER employees Dr. Murat DELMAN, Evrim PAŞIK and Yekta GÜNAY, who answered my questions with their friendly attitude and provided their support during this thesis study. Likewise, I would like to thank Mutlu Devran YAMAN for his help in my thesis work I would like to thank Fatma HACIMALAK, with whom I started my thesis, and my colleagues Sevgi ASLAN and Oktay OKUMUŞ, who helped me until the final version of my thesis and whom I could always reach, for being with me. I would like to thank Murat GÜVEN for his patience and efforts in editing this thesis and bringing it to the appropriate format. Maya Lab, which provided me with employment opportunities during my master's degree and was the first workplace where I could work related to my field, has a special importance for me. I would like to thank the Maya Lab family for helping me increase my knowledge and have a good time.

Thanks to the knowledge, achievements and self-confidence I gained from Maya Lab and FRARY-DOĞANLAR laboratory, my path crossed with Abdi İbrahim İlaç. Abdi İbrahim İlaç, which first started to support me as a scholar, later gave me the opportunity to work within its own organization. I would like to thank you for your support and contributions during my scholarship process and my current active working life.

Thanks to the knowledge, achievements and self-confidence I gained from Maya Lab and FRARY-DOĞANLAR laboratory, my path crossed with Abdi İbrahim İlaç. Abdi İbrahim İlaç, which first started to support me as a scholar, later gave me the opportunity to work within its own organization. I would like to thank you for your support and contributions during my scholarship process and my current active working life.

Thank you all.

ABSTRACT

BACTERIAL CELLULOSE PRODUCTION WITH GLUCONOACETOBACTER XYLINUS FROM HAZELNUT WASTE

Bacterial cellulose (BC) is a natural biopolymer with significant potential in areas such as the biomedical, cosmetics, and electronics fields. BC features high surface area, permeability, biodegradability, and modifiability. This study used Gluconacetobacter xylinus to produce BC, optimizing various environmental conditions and media. The focus was on sugars obtained from hazelnut shells pretreated with acid and alkaline solutions. Chemical analysis of hazelnut shells showed lignin, cellulose, and hemicellulose contents of 42.09%, 21.84%, and 22.99%, respectively. Different pretreatments were evaluated for sugar release, with alkaline treatments being more effective. Pretreatment with 1% potassium hydroxide and 3% sodium hydroxide yielded the highest sugar concentrations at 37.8 and 39.0 g/L, respectively. Optimization involved examining inoculation rate, pH, duration, and ethanol presence. The highest BC yield (2369 mg/L) was achieved with 10% inoculation, 10 days, pH 6, and 1% ethanol concentration in the medium. Ethanol addition reduced water retention capacity. FT-IR results confirmed the purity and structural integrity of all samples. This study identified optimal conditions for BC production and demonstrated that hazelnut shells can serve as a sustainable sugar source.

ÖZET

FINDIK ATIKLARINDAN GLUCONOACETOBACTER XYLINUS İLE BAKTERİYEL SELÜLOZ ÜRETİMİ

Bakteriyel selüloz (BC), biyomedikal, kozmetik ve elektronik gibi birçok endüstriyel alanda önemli potansiyele sahip olan bu doğal polimerin özellikleri arasında yüksek yüzey alanı, sıvı ve gaz geçirgenliği, biyobozunabilirlik ve modifiye edilebilirlik bulunur. Bu çalışmada bakteriyel selüloz üretimi gluconacetobacter xylinus tarafından gerçekleştirilmiştir. BC üretimini optimize etmek için çeşitli çevresel koşullar ve besiyerleri test edilmiştir. Bu çalışmada, fındık kabuklarının asit ve baz kimyasal ön işlemleri ile elde edilen şekerlerin kullanımına odaklanılmıştır. Fındık kabuğunun kimyasal içeriği belirlenmiş ve lignin, selüloz ve hemiselüloz oranları sırasıyla %42,09, %21,84 ve %22,99 olarak bulunmuştur. Bu içerikler, farklı ön işlem yöntemlerinin etkinliğini değer- lendirmek için kullanılmıştır. Fındık kabukları, farklı kimyasallar ile ön işlem- den geçirilmiş ve şeker salınımı açısından değerlendirilmiştir. Alkali ön işlemler, şeker salınımı açısından daha etkili bulunmuştur. Özellikle, %1'lik potasyum hidroksit ve %3'lük sodyum hidroksit ile ön işlem gören numuneler sırasıyla 37,8 ve 39 g/L en yüksek şeker konsantrasyonuna sahip olmuştur. Optimiza-syon çalışmaları kapsamında inokülasyon oranı, pH değeri, gün ve etanol varlığı gibi parametreler incelenmiştir. %10 inokülasyon oranı, 10 gün ve pH 6 ile en yüksek BC verimi elde edilmiştir. Kıyaslanan kültürlere bakıldığında %1 potasyum hidroksit ile ön işlem görmüş sonrasında da besiyeri içerisinde %1'lik etanol bulunan besiyerinde 2369 mg/L' de en çok bakteriyel selüloz üretildiği belirlenmiştir. Farklı kültürlerden alınan bakteriyel selülozlarda etanol ilavesinin su tutma kapasitesini azalttığ görülmüştür. FT-IR sonuçları bütün örneklerin saf olarak elde edildiğini ve yapısal bütünlüğün korunduğu göstermiştir. Bu tez, BC üretimini optimize etmek için gerekli olan koşulları belirlemekte ve fındık kabuklarının sürdürülebilir bir şeker kaynağı olarak kullanılabileceğini göstermektedir.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES ix
LIST OF TABLESx
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION
1.1. Cellulose Structure1
1.2. Bacterial Cellulose (BC)
1.2.1. BC in the Food Industry4
1.2.2. BC in the Healthcare Industry7
1.2.3. BC in the Cosmetic Industry9
1.2.4. Bioremediation Potential of BC9
1.2.5. BC in the Textile Industry10
1.3. BC Production11
1.4. BC Producing Conditions13
1.5. Aim of the Study17
CHAPTER 2. MATERIALS AND METHODS
2.1. Biological Material18
2.2. Methods
2.2.1. Preparation of Hazelnut Shell
2.2.1.1. Determination of Moisture Content19
2.2.1.2. Determination of Ash Content19
2.2.1.3. Determination of Total Fat Content19
2.2.1.4. Determination of Protein Content
2.2.1.5. Determination of Extractive Content
2.2.1.6. Determination of Hemicellulose Content
2.2.1.7. Determination of Lignin Content
2.2.1.8. Determination of Cellulose Content
2.2.2. Chemical Pretreatments
2.2.2.1. Dilute Acid Pretreatment
2.2.2.2. Alkaline Pretreatments
2.2.2.3. Enzmatic Hydrolysis23
2.2.2.4. Evaluation of Releasing Sugar

2.2.3. BC Production and Production Optimization	25
2.2.3.1. Determination of Optimized Inoculation Rate in HS	
Medium	26
2.2.3.2. Determination of Optimized pH for HS Medium	26
2.2.3.3. Determination of Optimized Incubation Time in HS	
Medium	27
2.2.3.4. Alternative Medium Containing Hazelnut Waste	27
2.2.4. BC Characterization	28
2.2.4.1. Water Holding Capacity	28
2.2.4.2. SEM (Scanning Electron Microscopy)	29
2.2.4.3. FT-IR (Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy)	29
CHAPTER 3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS	30
3.1. Chemical Content of Hazelnut Shell	30
3.2. Chemical Pretreatment and Enzymatic Hydrolysis	31
3.3. Optimization of BC Production	32
3.4. Characterization of BC	37
CHAPTER 4. CONCLUSION	41
REFERENCES	43

LIST OF FIGURES

<u>Figure</u>	<u>Page</u>
Figure 1.1. Cellulose microfibrils' crystalline and amorphous reg	gions1
Figure 1.2. Cellulose allomorphs' crystal geometry	2
Figure 1.3. Cellulose polymorphs	3
Figure 1.4. Nata de Coco.	4
Figure 1.5. Kombucha tea with BC	5
Figure 1.6. BC clothes with dye	11
Figure 1.7. Metabolic pathway of producing bacterial cellulose	in <i>komagataeibacter</i>
xylinum	
Figure 1.8. Lignocellulosic sources	14
Figure 2.1. Use of fractionated sieve to prepare hazelnut shell sa	amples19
Figure 2.2. Chemically pretreated and enzymatic hydrolysed has	zelnut shells24
Figure 2.3. Chemically pretreated and enzymatic hydrolysed has	zelnut shells25
Figure 3.1. Measured sugar concentration after enzymatic hydro	olysis32
Figure 3.2. The inoculation rate effect on BC producing	
Figure 3.3. The pH effect on BC producing.	
Figure 3.4. The incubation time effect on BC producing	
Figure 3.5. The effect of alternative media on BC producing	
Figure 3.6. Water holding capacities of BC	
Figure 3.7. FT-IR results of BC.	
Figure 3.8. Comparison of FT-IR results of different types of ce	llulose BC39
Figure 3.9. SEM Images of BC.	40

LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
Table 1.1. Comparison of BC and PC properties.	3
Table 1.2. Adsorption capacities of various modifications for different pollutants	10
Table 1.3. Comparison of pretreatment methods	15
Table 2.1. Naming of pretreated samples.	22
Table 2.2. Alternative media for producing BC	27
Table 3.1. Chemical content of hazelnut shell	31
Table 3.2. Optimal pH for various microorganisms	34

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1. Cellulose Structure

Cellulose is a homopolymer that consists of 3000 or more glucose monomers which bind to each other with β 1-4 glycosidic bonds. A linear structure occurs when the glucose monomers bind. Interchain hydrogen bonding between hydroxyl groups and oxygens provides linearity due to stabilizing the linkage. This stabilization results in the crystallinity of cellulose (Sampath et al. 2016). The crystallinity of cellulose is a natural property related to its affinity for water, mechanical strength, and accessibility to chemical reagents (Goldstein et al. 2004). Cellulose takes the form of a bundle by the binding of three hydroxyl groups to each other. This structure is called a microfibril (Thomas et al., 2013). Cellulose microfibrils are arranged in different ways. The most common arrangement is the parallel arrangement. Parallel arrangements are called crystalline regions. Cellulose microfibrils can be also arranged diagonally and unordered. Diagonal arrangements are called amorphous regions. Thus, microfibrils can have crystalline and amorphous regions as shown in Figure 1.1.



Figure 1.1. Cellulose microfibrils' crystalline and amorphous regions (Source: Jasmania, 2018).

While the crystalline region of cellulose provides high tensile strength, the amorphous region provides elasticity. Cellulose has seven polymorphs (cellulose I α , I β , II, III1, III2 IV1, and IV2) that have different crystal geometry (Nazir et al., 2019). These are shown in Figure 1.2.

Cellulose allomorph	Crystal geometry	
Alpha cellulose (I _a)	Triclinic, one parallel chain	
Beta cellulose (I_{β})	Monoclinic, two parallel chains	
Cellulose II	Monoclinic, two antiparallel chains	
Cellulose III _I	One monoclinic, parallel chain	
Cellulose III _{II}	Two monoclinic, antiparallel chains	
Cellulose IV _I	Two orthorhombic, parallel chains	
Cellulose IV _{II}	Two orthorhombic, antiparallel chains	

Figure 1.2. Cellulose allomorphs' crystal geometry (Source: Nazir et al., 2019).

Three polymorphs of cellulose exist in nature (Rajangam, 2008). Cellulose I (natural cellulose) is known as a crystallographic form of cellulose which has parallel glucan chains, in a microfibrous structure. Cellulose I has two forms. Cellulose I α is the algal and bacterial cellulose structure, while Cellulose I β is found in plants. Cellulose I α and I β are present in natural cellulose but in different ratios because these ratios are related to crystal packing, molecular conformation, and hydrogen bonding. Cellulose I has parallel glucan chains and strong intramolecular hydrogen bonds. Cellulose I also has the same directional reducing end point of chains. Cellulose polymorphs can be converted into other cellulose polymorphs by thermochemical pretreatments as shown in Figure 1.2. Thermochemical pretreatments are applied for changing crystallinity. Cellulose II is obtained by dissolving it in an alkaline solution (mercerization) and washing it with water. The water-washing process helps to turn Cellulose I into cellulose II without dissolving (Y. Song et al., 2015). Cellulose II has antiparallel glucan chains and extra hydrogen bonds per glucose residue. These extra hydrogen bonds provide thermodynamic stability for cellulose II. Cellulose III1 and III2 are obtained by treating cellulose I α , I β and II with liquid ammonia or some amines. Cellulose IV1 and IV2 are formed by heating cellulose III1 and cellulose III2 at 260°C in glycerol, respectively (Rajangam, 2008).



Figure 1.3. Cellulose polymorphs (Source: Rajangam, 2008).

1.2. Bacterial Cellulose (BC)

Bacterial cellulose is an exopolysaccharide produced by some bacterial strains such as Agrobacterium spp, Acetobacter spp, Azotobacter spp, Sarcina, Alcaligenes, and Pseudomonas. It has easy moldability, scalability, high biocompatibility, and easy tailoring for specific uses (Horue et al., 2023, Lahiri et al., 2021). Bacterial cellulose (BC) is superior to plant cellulose (PC) due to the absence of lignin and its higher crystallinity, higher water-holding capacity, and higher purity, as given in Table 1.1 (Wang et al., 2019, Coseri, 2021).

Table 1.1. Comparison of BC and PC properties.

Property	BC	PC	References
Water-holding capacity (%)	>95	25-35	Rebelo et al., 2018
Tensile Strength (MPa)	20-300	25-200	Feng et al., 2015
Purity (%)	>99	<85	Klemm et al., 2005
Porosity (%),	>85	<75	Al-Shamary and Darwash, 2013

BC also has the following desired properties: liquid sorption, mechanical strength, non-allergenicity, transparency, and moldability (de Andrade Arruda Fernandes et al., 2020). Due to these properties, BC is used in many fields such as food, medical, cosmetics, and textiles industries.

1.2.1. BC in the Food Industry

A safe and adequate food supply is vital for all heterotrophic organisms including humans. According to FAOSTAT, over 800 million people die from hunger per year. Precautions about food quality and safety have to be taken to prevent hunger, illness and disease. BC has been described as generally recognized as safe (GRAS) by the FDA, 2024 since 1992. BC has an absorptive capacity such that colors, and flavors from the surrounding culture medium are transmitted to the BC. These properties enhance the sensory qualities of food. The addition of cellulose in food provides a superior mouthfeel due to the water uptake property of cellulose. One product which takes advantage of this property is Nata de Coco, shown in Figure 1.4. Nata de Coco is a local dessert of the Philippines.



Figure 1.4. Nata de Coco (Source: Sharmin & Ahmed, 2021).

Nata de Coco is prepared by fermenting coconut water to yield a one- centimeterthick cellulose gel sheet. Then it is immersed in sugar syrup. Nata de Pina is another product that is produced in the same way using pineapple juice. Teekvass (kombucha), made in northeastern China da Silva Júnior et al., 2022, is a fermented tea that is made by the cocultivation of yeast, bacteria, and lichen. BC is produced at the top of the tea culture, shown in Figure 1.5 This tea includes gluconic acid, hyaluronic acid, chondroitin sulfate, mucoitin sulruic acid, B1, B2, B3, B6 and B12 vitamins, lactic acid, and usnic acid. Using Gamgyul (a kind of mandarin) instead of coconut water for BC production is used for fighting obesity in Jeju Gamgyul Center of the Rural Development Administration in South Korea (Choi et al., 2022).



Figure 1.5. Kombucha tea with BC (Source: Miranda et al., 2016).

BC is a non-caloric product. BC shows higher lipid blood and cholesterollowering effects than PC. It was thought that BC could only be used in oily products like mayonnaise or margarine but BC's texture does not resemble cream. Thus, BC can be used as a fat replacer in some foods, especially emulsified meat products such as patties, hamburgers, and sausage. BC provides this without changing taste and texture. According to the U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) standards, products that have total calorie counts that are reduced by 25% or more can be labeled as low-calorie. Using BC and beef extract instead of 1/3 of the quantity of beef, the calorie of the patty is decreased from 258 kcal to 194 kcal per 100 g meat. Also, there were no differences in mildness and juiciness. The fat amount of the patty using BC was 10% satisfying the standards of a 'low-fat hamburger' as recommended by the USDA (Iguchi et al., 2000). The same effect occurred when bacterial cellulose was added to sausage. Applying bacterial cellulose provided sausage with 12% fat and reduced calories by about 25% (Chau et al., 2008).

K. W. Lin and Lin, 2004 showed that addition of 10% BC to Chinese meatballs, did not affect the meatballs' texture, shelf stability and sensory qualities. Thanks to the suitable texture of products with BC, BC is a promising food additive. K. W. Lin and Lin, 2004 showed reduced rigidity of mahi mahi (dolphinfish) surumi and, an increased wateruptake capacity of mahi mahi surumi, when 5% alkali treated BC was added. Akoğlu et al., 2015 examined the effects of addition of different percentages of BC to fat-reduced mayonnaise (none and from 0.25% to 2%). No differences were found in smell, aftertaste, oilness and thickness. Soy protein isolate (SPI) can be used instead of using fat, in ice cream making. SPI degrades at room temperature due to protein aggregation. Therefore, Guo et al., 2018 investigated the thermal stability and emulsifying properties of a SPI-BC complex as a fat replacer in ice cream. Their results showed that the BC-SPI complex provided enchanced stability. Addition of BC to also ice cream also reduces calories and enhances melting resistance and textural properties. The texture of BC gel varies from a hard texture like bone to the texture of mollusks and squid. For increasing the water content of BC, alginate, sugar alcohol or calcium chloride can be added and a chewable texture can be obtained. These characteristics enable its utilization in innovative culinary creations such as low-calorie desserts or salads (Choi et al., 2022).

In addition to its use as a food additive, BC is promising for food packaging. According to Geyer, 2020, approximately 8300 million metric tonnes of virgin plastics were produced until 2017. By 2015, about 6300 million metric tons of plastic waste had been produced. Of this amount, roughly 9% had been recycled, 12% had been burned, and 79% had been either disposed of in landfills or ended up in the natural environment. This situation causes concern about nature. One of the many uses of plastic is food packaging. Polyethylene, polypropylene, polystyrene, and polyvinyl chloride are most commonly used in food packaging. Production of these polymers is inexpensive but these polymers are not biodegradable (Choi et al., 2022). Because of this issue, sustainable packaging material is getting more popular. BC is a promising candidate among renewable polymers. The porous and thin reticulated structure of BC filters dust, microorganisms and fungus in the air. Due to this filtration property, BC is a promising packaging material for storage and to extend the shelf-life of food. Coban et al., 2021 has reported that BC provides extended shelf life compared to petrochemical materials in sausage. In this study, sausages were wrapped with petrochemical material, BC, or left unwrapped. Unwrapped sausage had 1.0×10^6 cfu (colony forming unit)/ml microbial load, sausage wrapped with petrochemical material had 2.7×105 cfu/ml, and BCwrapped sausage had 1.2×104 cfu/ml microbial load. Thus, the results indicate the usefulness of BC in food packaging.

1.2.2. BC in the Healthcare Industry

Good living conditions depend on the development of medicine and the healthcare industry. The growing human population also emphasizes the importance of the medical sector. The population of the world is believed to reach 9 billion people by 2050 (Khan & Ghosh, 2005). Moreover, the elderly population will increase threefold by 2050 (Goodman, 2007). Healthcare systems become more essential as the Earth's population ages. Growing medical needs can be met by innovative approaches. In this context, usage of eco-friendly and material of biological origin such as bacterial cellulose, in health systems can provides innovative perspectives (Navya et al., 2022). BC has a nanoporous structure with abundant free hydroxyl residues. These properties make BC a suitable candidate for wound healing (Horue et al., 2023). For example, Raut et al., 2023 showed that BC reduced skin irritation scores and prevented wound infection by doing experiments with rabbits. In other work, chronic venous limb ulcers of patients were healed in 180 days. In this work, 19 patients treated with BC and an untreated control group were compared for the effectiveness of BC coating on lesion healing. This study showed that BC stimulated the epithelization of lesions (Silva et al., 2021). BC's effect on arterial ulcer patients was also examined. In this study, 13 individuals were treated with BC while 11 were used as control. When the patient's ischemic wounds were examined, a wound size reduction of 55% was observed in the BC-treated group after a 30-day period, while in the control group, there was a reduction of 48.5%. After 90 days, 50% of the BC-treated group had completely healed, whereas this rate was 18.2% in the control group. Using a BC-based scaffold provides increased skin extracellular matrix deposition, supressing excessive inflamation in wound dressing. Modification of BC to carboxymethyl cellulose (CMC) also improved cell adhesion and proliferation (Cherng et al., 2021).

BC has been applied for tissue engineering as an appropriate scaffold material to stimulate cell growth and tissue development (Raut et al., 2023). Bacterial cellulose has been used especially in the production of bone, cartilage, vascular, nervous and cardiac tissues (Jadczak & Ochędzan-Siodłak, 2023). BC has desirable properties in tissue engineering, such as biocompatibility, high porosity, high surface area, and mechanical strength. An important obstacle in bone tissue engineering is the lack of osteogenic

activity. Gold nanoparticle-incorporated BC hydrogels overcome the lack of osteogenic activity. The controlled release of gold nanoparticles (GNPs) from hydrogels stimulates the development of bone-forming cells (hBMSCs) sourced from human bone marrow by triggering a process known as autophagy (Huang et al., 2023). For bone tissue engineering, BC-calcium phosphate composite can be applied. This composite allows cell adhesion and bone tissue regeneration (Busuioc et al., 2022). The structure of BC, such as controllable pore size and reshaping properties, promotes neocartilage regeneration (Xun et al., 2021). Also, lotus root starch, agarose porogen templating, and hydroxyapatite deposition modified BC showed enhanced cell growth, chondrocyte distribution, and alkaline phosphate activity (Wang et al., 2019). These results indicate the efficiency of using BC scaffold in cartilage tissue engineering. Because of its special qualities, BC is also used in applications involving nerve tissue. In order to facilitate nerve regeneration following transection, BC can be molded into hollow tubes that direct nerve axons. Moreover, BC-based electrodes are extremely robust and appropriate for neural interfacing applications, enabling in vivo recording of brain electric activity. These electrodes' Young's modulus is comparable to that of brain tissue. These results demonstrate the variety of uses of BC in nerve tissue engineering, including guiding nerves (Raut et al., 2023); (Yang et al., 2018).

In addition to its use in tissue engineering, BC is a good candidate for a drug delivery system to fight against cancer. According to WHO, 2008, 20 million new cancer cases and 9,7 million deaths happened in 2022. Furthermore, 53,5 million cancer patients lived with cancer in 2022. WHO, 2008 estimates that 35 million new cancer cases will be revealed in 2050. Considering all of this, the importance of fighting against cancer is clear. BC is a suitable and applicable product thanks to its improving therapeutic effectiveness, decreasing chemical dosage, high surface area, easy modification, relatively high permeability to liquid and gases, and controllable drug-release properties (Shahriari- Khalaji et al., 2021). J. H. Lin et al., 2011 showed that BC provided controllable antibody release, was biocompatible, and lacked cytotoxic effects. Doxorubicin-embedded BC inhibited tumor growth (TGI) from 85, 5% to 62, 4% for an hour in the mice gastric cancer model (Ando et al., 2021).

1.2.3. BC in the Cosmetic Industry

Cosmetics have a significant impact on people's lives due to their ability to help people look better, feel more confident, and improve their well-being. The cosmetic industry is worth billions of dollars and generates significant foreign exchange earnings, and job opportunities (Surya & Gunasekaran, 2021); (JOHN, 2014). The cosmetic industry is interested in BC due to its properties such as natural origin, biodegradability, and superior quality for skincare products (Oliveira et al., 2022). These superior qualities are water retention capacity, porosity, supporting the integration of active compounds, and improving moisturizing effects. BC can be applied as a mask-forming ingredient in the cosmetic industry (Choi et al., 2022). Some brands such as Mary Kay, Bio Enzymes, and Leaders, produce facial masks containing BC. These masks are enriched with secondary compounds that provide hydration, antioxidant action, and revitalization of facial tissues (de Andrade Arruda Fernandes et al., 2020).

1.2.4. Bioremediation Potential of BC

Pollution is described as the release of energy and substances by humans that cause harm to health and ecological systems. These substances can be chemicals, heavy metals, pesticides, plastics, and biological substances which have negative effects on animal life and welfare. Pollution is a complex phenomenon because it can affect ecosystems, change natural processes, and cause dead zones in water bodies as a result of excessive nutrient discharge from pesticides, herbicides, and fertilizers. To mitigate pollution, one must decrease exposure to dangerous agents and clean up contaminated surroundings. One must also understand the scientific principles governing the transit and fate of pollutants (Brusseau et al., 2019); (Banner, 1999). BC has tremendous bioremediation potential since it can adsorb pollutants and convert polluting substances into non-toxic composites. This potential relies on its porous structure, large surface area, and abundant hydroxyl groups. The adsorption capacity of BC with different heavy metal pollutants is given in Table 1.2. Modified and unmodified BC have different heavy metal

adsorption capacities. Different modifications of BC provide higher heavy metal adsorption capacity. BC- graphene oxide composite has the highest adsorption capacity of lead, 303.30 mg lead per gram of cellulose. BC- graphene oxide can be used for treatment of lead contamination. These results indicate that BC is a good candidate for bioremediation.

Modification	Pollutant	Adsorption	Reference
		capacity	
p-aminobenzoic groups	Ni ²⁺	110.34 mg/g	Gustava et al. 2004
Poly(acrylic acid-co-acrylamide)	Ni ²⁺	171.80 mg/g	Lin et al. 2016
Amidoximated	Cu ²⁺	84.00 mg/g	Chen et al., 2009
Graphene oxide	Pb ²⁺	303.30 mg/g	Mensah et al., <u>2019</u>
Graphene oxide- Magnesium aluminum	Cu ²⁺	150.79 mg/g	S. Song et al., <u>2020</u>
phyllosilicate			
Graphene oxide- Magnesium aluminum	Pb ²⁺	217.80 mg/g	S. Song et al., <u>2020</u>
phyllosilicate			
Cu	Cyclohexane	66.4 g/g	Nguyen et al. 2022
Fe- Metal Organic Gel	Arsenate	5 ppm	H. Li et al., 2021
-	Pb ²⁺	87 mg/g	Mohite and Patil,
			2014
Amidoximated	Pb ²⁺	67 mg/g	Chen et al., 2009

Table 1.2. Adsorption capacities of various modifications for different pollutants.

1.2.5. BC in the Textile Industry

Textiles have been integrated into human existence since the beginning of life. Two or more millennia ago, textiles were used to cover body parts to heat the body and defend against insects, etc. With the development of societies, clothing came to have more functions than just covering body parts. Clothing can be measure of attractiveness and also a sign of power (Mitchell, 2004). The textile industry's priorities are lower cost, variety, and more functionality. Also, textile products are made from plants and animals. Some animals are victims for fashion fue to the demand for products like leather and fur. In this context, Suzan Lee who is a fashion designer, has integrated BC into the fashion sector successfully. Her idea was to 'grow your clothes'. She has shown the production of BC and usage of BC in clothing making. Her products are shown in Figure 1.6.



Figure 1.6. BC clothes with dye. (Source: "Suzanne Lee: Grown Your Own Clothes". TED: Ideas Worth Spreading, TED, 2011.).

1.3. BC Production

Some bacteria can produce bacterial cellulose. Producing bacterial cellulose is a natural behavior for these bacteria. *Rhizobium* and *agrobacterium* species produce cellulose to attach to the plant. *Acetobacter* species produce cellulose to maintain the existence of an aerobic environment. Also, other bacteria species such as *Achromobacter*, *Aerobacter*, *Alcaligenes*, and *Pseudomonas* species produce BC to allow flocculation. Furthermore, *sarcina* produce BC but the biological role of BC in this bacteria is not known (Jonas & Farah, 1998). The genera *komagataeibacter* and *gluconacetobacter* are modal organisms for BC production. Producing BC from these genera can take place in industry. These genera are members of the acetic acid bacteria. With some phylogenetic studies, some strains of *komagataeibacter*, such as *komagataeibacter hansenii*, *komagataeibacter cocois, komagataeibacter maltaceti*, and *komagataeibacter pomaceti* are reclassified as *novacetimonas*. but *komataeibacter xylinum* is also known as *gluconacetobacter xylinus* (Brandão et al., 2022). BC can be produced in the presence of

xylose, glucose, or fructose. For all substances, there are different interrelated pathways used to produce bacterial cellulose as shown in Figure 1.7.



Figure 1.7. Metabolic pathway of producing bacterial cellulose in *komagataeibacter xylinum* (Source: Stepanov & Efremenko, 2018).

Most of cellulose-producing bacteria cannot synthesize cellulose from xylose. Only a few bacteria such as the *komagataeibacter xylinus*, an *acetobacter*, can synthesize cellulose from xylose, as shown in Figure 6. For utilization of xylose, xylose has to be converted to fructose-6-phosphate. Then, fructose-6-phosphate be turned into glucose-6-phosphate. Glucose-6-phosphate can be converted into glucose-1-phosphate by phosphoglucomutase. Glucose-1- phosphate is then turned into uridin diphosphate (UPD)- glucose by UDP-glucose pyrophosphorylase. At the end of pathway, cellulose is produced by converting UDP-glucose to glucose. Glucose monomers are assembled in the form of cellulose (Stepanov & Efremenko, 2018).

1.4. BC Producing Conditions

Acetic acid bacteria such as gluconacetobacter xylinus and komagataeibacter hansenii, are mostly used for BC production. The medium required for BC production was determined by Hestrin and Schramm in 1954. This medium includes important substances for bacterial growth such as disodium phosphate, citric acid monohydrate, peptone, yeast extract, and glucose. Disodium phosphate provides phosphate and pH stability (Zheng et al., 2019). Citric acid is an intermediate substance in the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle. The TCA cycle is responsible for energy production in aerobic organisms. Peptone is the primary nitrogen source. Yeast extract is a complex substance which includes vitamins and nitrogen sources. Glucose is a carbon source for obtaining energy. To sum up, each ingredient in the medium is necessary for acetic acid bacteria. It has been devised to meet the bacterium's needs (X. Li et al., 2015). Research indicates that xylose transporters in Escherichia coli enable the simultaneous consumption of glucose and xylose, effectively overcoming the glucose-induced inhibition often seen in fermentation processes (Zhu et al., 2022). Strains adapted to xylose utilization have demonstrated improved co-utilization of sugars, leading to higher sugar consumption rates and increased ethanol production, which are beneficial for BC production (Dev et al., 2022). Studies have shown that using mixed carbon sources, including xylose, results in higher BC titers compared to using glucose alone. Metabolic analyses have revealed that xylose contributes to better ATP production and enhanced enzyme activity, which are crucial for efficient BC production (Wang & Zhong, 2022).

Substances used in the medium can be obtained from cheaper sources for integration into industry. In this context, agricultural wastes are a good source to replace carbon sources. The growing need for food and other agricultural products makes agricultural waste an important by-product that should be utilized. Plant wastes are inert lignocellulose products with common components such as lignin, cellulose, and hemicellulose (Pocha et al., 2022). Lignin binds to hemicellulose and cellulose and covers them. Lignin resists chemical or microbial destr uction (Prado et al., 2022). There are many lignocellulosic material sources that exist in the World. Some of them are shown in Figure 1.8. According to FAOSTAT data, 765,000 tons of hazelnuts were produced in Turkey in 2022. The shell constitutes 50% of the weight of hazelnuts, and this shell cannot be actively used in industry. Due to its high-calorie properties, its use as fuel has become common but is harmful to the environment. Bacteria use glucose as a carbon source, but some bacteria can also use xylose as a carbon source. Therefore, cellulose and hemicellulose in the structure of agricultural waste can be broken down into monomers and used as a carbon source in bacterial cultures. In this way, products that can be used in the energy sector, such as bioethanol and biogas, can be produced. At the same time, hydrolysis of agricultural wastes can be used in the production of high-value-added products such as bacterial cellulose, which can be used in areas such as the food industry, textiles, and health. In addition, microbial proteins that form the content of animal feed, polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHA) used in bioplastic production, chitin and chitosan used in water purification and food packaging can be produced with agricultural wastes.



Figure 1.8. Lignocellulosic sources (Source: Lobo et al., 2021).

The production of bacterial cellulose from agricultural waste occurs through the stages of pre-treatment of the waste, hydrolysis of sugars, fermentation, and purification of the resulting product. The pretreatment is done to remove the lignin in the lignocellulosic waste and make the cellulose more accessible to the enzyme. From the waste where some lignin has been removed, smaller molecular weight sugars such as glucose and xylose are released through enzymatic digestion. These released sugars are added to the bacterial culture and the fermentation phase begins.

Pretreatments	Methods	Advantages	Disadvantages
Chemical Pretreatments	Dilute Acid	Operation time is	Acid recovery and
		less and high yield	formation of fur-
		of pentose sugar	fural
	AFEX (Ammonia	High yield of	Recovery of am-
	Fiber Extension)	pentose sugar and	monia is not ef-
		no inhibitory	fective, less effec-
		compounds	tive process with
			increasing lignin
			content
	Lime	No inhibitory	Operation time is
		compounds	more
	Organosolvsis	High yield of pen-	Solvent recovery
		tose sugar	is expensive
Physical Pretreatments	Milling	Operation time is	The overall yield
		less	is poor, energy re-
			quirement is high
	Irridation	High yield	Need special de-
		of sugar, no	sign of equipment
		inhibitory com-	and process
		pounds	
	High- pressure	No inhibitory	Maintaining high
		compounds	the pressure itself is
			a challenge
Biological	Microorganism	Low energy re-	The rate of reac-
Pretreatments		quirement, no	tion is slow
		production of	
		inhibitory com-	
		pounds, mild	
		operation condi-	
		tions	

Table 1.3. Comparison of pretreatment methods (Sasmal and Mohanty, 2018).

While the bacteria continue their vital activities, bacteria provide the desired bacterial cellulose to the culture as a by-product (Arenas-Cárdenas et al., 2017). Depending on the source of the lignocellulosic material, the ratio of lignin, hemicellulose and celullose change (Lobo et al. 2021). This ratio plays a critical role in choosing pretreatment and is related to applied technology. Pretreatment can be classified as physical, chemical, biological, and their combinations. When pretreatment is determined, economic and environmental issues have to be considered. Pretreatments have different advantages and disadvantages. Some of the advantages and disadvantages are shown in Table 1.3. When the pretreatments are compared, the yield of the pentose sugar is high in general but dilute acid pretreatment has a disadvantage for acid recovery and formation of furfural. Also, after the AFEX, recovery of ammonia is not effective and AFEX is less effective with increasing lignin content. Furthermore, Organosolvosis is an effective method but also is quite expensive. Physical methods have different advantages and disadvantages. Milling does not take too much time but it requires significant energy and the yield of milling is quite low. Irradiation provides a high yield of sugar and does not release inhibitory compounds. The energy requirement of biological pretreatment is quite low and after the biological pretreatment, inhibitory compounds are not released. However, this pretreatment method is slow (Sasmal & Mohanty, 2018). Biological pretreatments are done using enzymes. Cellulases are responsible for the cellulose fraction's enzymatic hydrolysis. The complex group of enzymes known as cellulases is mostly made up of three distinct hydrolase enzyme types with varying specificities. Internal β -1,4-glucosidic linkages are randomly hydrolyzed by endo-1,4- β -D-glucanases, while cellulose is transformed into cellodextrins by cellobiohydrolases I and II (CBH). Additionally, cellobiose and cellodextrins are hydrolyzed to glucose by $1,4-\beta$ -Dglucosidases. These enzymes work in concert with one another and can support one another. Enzymatic or acidic hydrolysis can also be used to transform the hemicellulose portion into monosaccharides. The hemicellulose fraction can be dissolved with cellulose in the enzymatic hydrolysis stage, contingent on the circumstances and the pretreatment option used. Raw sources rich in xylans include sugarcane bagasse and maize stover. Enzymes called xylanase, derived from bacteria and fungi, may hydrolyze the β (-1,4)-D-xylopyranosyl link, liberating monomers of xylose and xylooligosaccharides. Among the xylanases, β -xylosidases hydrolyze short-chain xylooligosaccharides, while endo- β -1,4-xylanases hydrolyze the xylan backbone oligosaccharide, resulting in

depolymerization. Following the hydrolysis stage, the sugars that are liberated from the polysaccharides will be fermented to yield various bioproducts (Prado et al., 2022).

1.5. Aim of the Study

Hazelnut is produced widely at 684,000 tons per year in Turkey. While hazelnut kernels are consumed or processed, hazelnut shells are considered a waste product. Due to the high-calorie content of hazelnut shell, it is often burned. Burning hazelnut shells harms the environment. Thus if hazelnut shells can be used in new areas, environmental protection is encouraged. This work aimed to use hazelnut shells in a new way and also produce value-added production in the form of BC. To achieve this, hazelnut shells from the Hazelnut Research Institute in Giresun were used with pretreatment by testing different acids or bases for obtaining sugar. Optimized pretreatment methods provide a more eco-friendly approach. The sugar obtained from the treatment was used instead of D-glucose in the Hestrin-Schramm media for the growth of Gluconacetobacter xylinus. To determine the optimal growth conditions of G. xylinus, the effects of factors such as day, incubation rate, and pH on BC production were analyzed. Thus, this study provides an optimized protocol for eco-friendly usage of hazelnut shells and improved production of BC.

CHAPTER 2

MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1. Biological Material

Gluconacetobacter xylinus, BC producer bacterium, was obtained from ATCC (American Type Culture Collection). Hazelnuts were obtained from Hazelnut Research Institute, Giresun.

2.2. Methods

2.2.1. Preparation of Hazelnut Shell

To prepare material for pretreatment, the crude hazelnut shell was ground with a Grinding Mill/Knife grinder (Emir Endüstriyel Mutfak Ürünleri, EMR-Ö-01). The ground hazelnut shell was sieved by fractionated sieve until particle size was 0.5 mm (Figure 2.1) All of the subsequent analyses with the powdered hazelnut shells were performed in triplicate.



Figure 2.1. Use of fractionated sieve to prepare hazelnut shell samples (Biorender).

2.2.1.1. Determination of Moisture Content

One g ground samples were dried in an oven (Binder) at 80°C and weighed after drying. Moisture content was determined by subtracting the weight of the dried sample from the weight before drying (1 g).

2.2.1.2. Determination of Ash Content

One g dried samples were burned in a furnace at 550°C and weighed after burning. Ash content was determined by subtracting the final weight from the weight before burning.

2.2.1.3. Determination of Total Fat Content

Determination of total fat content was done according to (Yeddes et al., 2012). For this, 1 g hazelnut shells were incubated in 140 mL n-hexane using a Soxhlet device (Buchi Fat-Extractor, E-500). The solvent was removed by evaporation at room temperature. Samples were weighed after evaporation. Total fat content was determined by subtracting this weight from the initial weight.

2.2.1.4. Determination of Protein Content

The total nitrogen and protein content of the samples were determined using the Kjeldahl method. The Kjeldahl method involves several steps. In the first step, digestion, each 1 g sample was placed in a digestion flask, to which concentrated sulfuric acid (H₂SO₄) was added. A catalyst, a mixture of potassium sulfate (K₂SO₄) and copper sulfate (CuSO₄), was also included to accelerate the digestion process. The flask was then heated to break down the organic matter, converting nitrogen in the sample into ammonium sulfate. After digestion, the mixture was allowed to cool before neutralization. The solution was diluted with distilled water and transferred to a distillation apparatus. An excess of sodium hydroxide (NaOH) was added to neutralize the acid, converting the ammonium sulfate into ammonia gas. During distillation, the ammonia gas was distilled off and absorbed in a boric acid (H₃BO₃) solution, forming an ammonium borate. The ammonium borate solution was then titrated with a standard acid solution (HCl) to determine the amount of ammonia, and thus the amount of nitrogen present in the sample. The total nitrogen content was calculated based on the amount of acid used in the titration. The total protein content was then derived from the nitrogen content using a conversion factor appropriate for Hazelnut Shell as 6.25.

2.2.1.5. Determination of Extractive Content

Determination of extractives was done according to Ayeni et al., 2015. For this, 2 g hazelnut shells were incubated in 120 mL acetone at 90°C for 2 h. Samples were dried in an oven at 95°C until the weight was constant. Extractive content was determined by subtracting the final weight from the initial weight.

2.2.1.6. Determination of Hemicellulose Content

Determination of hemicellulose was done according to Ayeni et al., 2015. One g extractive-free sample was mixed with 0.5 M 150 mL NaOH. The mixture was heated at 80°C for 3.5 h. It was then washed with deionized water until the pH was neutral. The sample was dried at 95-105°C until the weight was constant. Hemicellulose content was determined by subtracting the final weight from the initial weight.

2.2.1.7. Determination of Lignin Content

Determination of lignin was done according to Ayeni et al., 2015. For this, 0.5 g extractive-free sample was incubated with 3 mL 72% H_2SO_4 for 2 h with 30-min intervals mixing. The sample was heated at 121°C for 1 h after adding 84 mL of distilled water. The sample was filtered after cooling. The dried sample was burned at 575°C until the weight was constant. Lignin content was determined by subtracting the ash weight from the solid weight remaining after incubation with acid.

2.2.1.8. Determination of Cellulose Content

Determination of cellulose was done according to Ayeni et al., 2015. Cellulose content was calculated by the assumption of lignocellulosic content consisting of extractives, hemicellulose, lignin, and cellulose. Therefore, cellulose percentage was calculated by subtracting total lignin, hemicellulose, and extractive percentages from 100%.

2.2.2. Chemical Pretreatments

Two different chemical pretreatment methods, dilute acid pretreatment and alkaline pretreatment were tested. Sodium hydroxide and potassium hydroxide were used as alkalis.

Table 2.1. Naming of pretreated samples.

Name	Used chemicals and concentrations for pretreatment
NA1	Nitric acid 1% v/v
NA2	Nitric acid 2% v/v
NA3	Nitric acid 3% v/v
NA4	Nitric acid 4% v/v
HA1	Hydrochloric acid 1% v/v
HA2	Hydrochloric acid 2% v/v
HA3	Hydrochloric acid 3% v/v
HA4	Hydrochloric acid 4% v/v
PA1	Phosphoric acid 1% v/v
PA2	Phosphoric acid 2% v/v
PA3	Phosphoric acid 3% v/v
PA4	Phosphoric acid 4% v/v
SA1	Sulfuric acid 1% v/v
SA2	Sulfuric acid 2% v/v
SA3	Sulfuric acid 3% v/v
SA4	Sulfuric acid 4% v/v
SH1	Sodium hydroxide 1% v/v
SH2	Sodium hydroxide 2% v/v
SH3	Sodium hydroxide 3% v/v
SH4	Sodium hydroxide 4% v/v
PH1	Potassium hydroxide 1% v/v
PH2	Potassium hydroxide 2% v/v
PH3	Potassium hydroxide 3% v/v
PH4	Potassium hydroxide 4% v/v

Sulfuric acid, hydrochloric acid, phosphoric acid, and nitric acid were used as acids. Different concentrations of acids and bases were used and pretreated samples were named as shown in Table 2.1 Hazelnut shells were air-dried and ground to fine dust before pretreatment. The resulting material was aliquoted in plastic bags and stored at 4°C for later use.

2.2.2.1. Dilute Acid Pretreatment

Each 1 g sample was mixed with 20 mL acid such as H_2SO_4 , HCl, H_3PO_4 , and HNO₃ [0.5, 1, 2, 4 % (v/v)] and then incubated at 121°C for 1 h. The mixture of chemicals and hazelnut was filtered after cooling down. The remaining solids were washed with distilled water 3 times.

2.2.2.2. Alkaline Pretreatments

Each 1 g sample was mixed with 20 mL alkaline chemical such as NaOH and KOH [0.5, 1, 2, 4 % (v/v)] and incubated at 121°C for 1 h. The mixture of chemicals and hazelnut shells was filtered after cooling down. The remaining solids were washed with distilled water 3 times.

2.2.2.3. Enzmatic Hydrolysis

Chemical-pretreated hazelnut shells (1/10 w/w) were incubated in 50 mM citrate buffer as described below (pH= 4.8) at 50°C for 20 min as shown in Figure 2. To prepare citrate buffer, 42 g citric acid monohydrate, 150 mL deionized water, and 10-12 g sodium hydroxide were mixed and diluted to 1 L. pH was adjusted to 4.5 with HCl or NaOH. Citrate buffer was stored as 1M. When the buffer was used, dilution was done to decrease the molarity of the buffer to 0.05M. Then pH was checked and adjusted to 4.8 with HCl or NaOH before use. After treatment with citrate buffer, Celtic Ctec2, a cellulase enzyme blend, was added to the mixture of hazelnut shell and citrate buffer. Enzyme/mixture volume was 1/15 v/v. Samples were incubated at 50°C for 3 d at 150 rpm.



Figure 2.2. Chemically pretreated and enzymatic hydrolysed hazelnut shells.

2.2.2.4. Evaluation of Releasing Sugar

Releasing sugar concentration was determined by using DNS (3,5-dinitro salicylic acid) assay and then results were calculated from concentration to weight for determining yield. DNS provides a color change in the presence of free carbonyl groups. Free carbonyl groups are called reducing sugars.

To perform the DNS assay, citrate buffer and DNS-reagent were prepared before the experiment. Citrate buffer was prepared as described in 1.2.2.3. For the DNS-reagent, the DNS reagent was prepared according to NREL 2.12 g 3,5-dinitro salicylic acid, 3.96 g sodium hydroxide, and 283.2 mL distilled water were mixed. After dissolving, 61.2 g sodium potassium tartrate (Rochelle salt), 1.52 mL Phenol (melted at 50°C), and 1.66 g sodium metabisulfite were added.

For spectrometric analysis, D-glucose standards were prepared from 1 g/L to 7 g/L. Supernatants as shown in Figure 2, were diluted with distilled water because samples had to be between 1 g/L and 7 g/L. After dilution, each standard or sample (0.5 ml) was mixed with 1 ml citrate buffer, and 3 ml DNS reagent in a 15 ml falcon tube. Falcon tubes were incubated at 95°C for 10 min. After incubation, samples were vortexed. Then, 0.2 ml of these samples were placed in centrifuge tubes with 1 ml distilled water. Centrifuge tubes were homogenized. Then samples were loaded to the 96-well plates as shown in Figure 2.3.



Figure 2.3. Chemically pretreated and enzymatic hydrolysed hazelnut shells.

2.2.3. BC Production and Production Optimization

Lyophilized Gluconacetobacter xylinus ATCC® 23770 [™] was diluted with 1 mL Mannitol Broth (5 g/L yeast extract, 3 g/L peptone, 25 g/L mannitol) before transfer to 5 mL of the same medium at 28°C. The cultures were incubated until turbidity was visible. At this point, they were plated on mannitol agar (5 g/L yeast extract, 3 g/L peptone, 25 g/L mannitol, 15 g/L agar) which was defined by Klemm et al., 2005. Bacteria on the agar were incubated at 28°C for 48-72 h until single colonies were visible. Single colonies were incubated in 40 mL HS (Hestrin-Schramm) (20 g/L d-glucose, 5 g/L peptone, 5 g/L yeast extract, 2.7 g/L disodium phosphate, 1.15 g/L citric acid monohydrate) in 250 mL jars at 28°C for 5 d. After 5 d, BC in the medium was separated and the medium was centrifuged at 4500 rpm for 8 min. After centrifugation, the liquid part was discarded and the pellet was dissolved in the HS medium. To make bacterial stock solutions, bacterial culture samples were placed in cryo tubes containing 7% DMSO (dimethyl sulfoxide) and stored at -20°C.

2.2.3.1. Determination of Optimized Inoculation Rate in HS Medium

Stock bacteria were inoculated in HS agar for 3-4 days. Single colonies were inoculated in 5 mL HS for 3 d at 28°C. Bacteria in 5 mL media were inoculated to 20 mL of the same medium with inoculation rates of 1, 4, 7, 10, 13% and grown for 3 d at 28°C. Bacteria in the 20 mL samples were then inoculated to 100 mL of the same medium at 28°C in the jars. After 10 d, BC was collected from the medium and soaked in 0.1 M NaOH for 2 h at 80°C. Then BC was dried in a freeze drier for 3 d. After 3 d, dried BC was weighed.

2.2.3.2. Determination of Optimized pH for HS Medium

Stock bacteria were inoculated to HS agar for 3-4 d at 28°C. Single colonies were inoculated in 5 mL HS media for 3 d at 28°C. Bacteria in 5 mL media were inoculated to 20 mL of HS medium at 28°C. The 100 mL medium samples were adjusted to pH 4, 4.5, 5, 5.5, 6, 6.5, and 7 with HCl or NaOH. Bacteria in 20 mL media were inoculated to 100 mL medium of different pH in the jars. After 10 d, BC was collected from the medium

and soaked in 0.1 M NaOH for 2 h at 80°C. Then BC was dried in a freeze drier for 3 d. After 3 d, dried BC was weighed.

2.2.3.3. Determination of Optimized Incubation Time in HS Medium

Stock bacteria were inoculated in HS agar for 3-4 d at 28°C. Single colonies were inoculated in 5 mL HS media for 3 d at 28°C. Bacteria in 5 mL medium were inoculated to 20 mL HS medium at 28°C. Inoculation rates and pH were determined as pH:6 and 10 days according to results from 2.2.3.1 and 2.2.3.2. Bacteria in 20 mL medium were inoculated to 100 mL medium at 28°C in the jars. BC was collected from the different medium after 4, 7, 10, 14, 21 d and soaked in 0.1 M NaOH for 2 h at 80°C. Then BC was dried in a freeze drier for 3 d. After 3 d, dried BC was weighed.

2.2.3.4. Alternative Medium Containing Hazelnut Waste

Stock bacteria were inoculated in HS agar for 3-4 d at 28°C. Single colonies were inoculated in 5 mL HS media for 3 d at 28°C. Bacteria in 5 mL media were inoculated to 20 mL HS medium.

Table 2.2. Alternative media for producing BC.

Name	Sugar Source	Ethanol Addition	
HS0	Pretreated Hazelnut Shell	None	
HS1	Pretreated Hazelnut Shell	1%	
HS2	Pretreated Hazelnut Shell	2%	
E0	D-glucose	None	
E1	D-glucose	1%	
E2	D-glucose	2%	

Inoculation rates, pH, and incubation times were determined as pH:6, 10% inoculation rate and 10 d according to results from 2.2.3.1, 2.2.3.2, and 2.2.3.3. Bacteria in 20 mL media were inoculated to 100 mL alternative medium which was made with pretreated hazelnut shells instead of d-glucose, in the jars. Chao et al. (2015) showed that ethanol had a positive effect on xylose utilization by G. xylinus. Due to this impact, media were prepared with different ethanol concentrations and sugar sources. Media were named as shown in Table 2.2. After 10 d, BC was collected from the medium and soaked in 0.1 M NaOH for 2 h at 80°C. Then BC was dried in a freeze drier for 3 d. After 3 d, dried BC was weighed.

2.2.4. BC Characterization

The produced BC was removed from the medium with forceps. BC was soaked in 0.1 M NaOH at 80°C for 2 h. NaOH was decanted and distilled water was added. BC was incubated with distilled water for 1 d. Then BC was dried in a freeze drier for 3 d. All of the subsequent analyses with the lyophilized BC were performed in triplicate.

2.2.4.1. Water Holding Capacity

Water holding capacity was measured according to Ul-Islam et al., 2013. Dried cellulose was incubated in distilled water until it was swollen. Water on the surface of the BC was removed by shaking. BC was dried at 50°C for 1 d. Dried BC was weighed. Water holding capacity was determined by subtracting the wet weight from the dried weight. Water holding capacity was calculated by dividing this value by the dried weight.

2.2.4.2. SEM (Scanning Electron Microscopy)

SEM analysis was done according to Morais et al., 2013 and Azzaoui et al., 2017 to view the surface of BC. Freeze-dried BC was sprayed with a thin evaporated gold layer before screening for prevention of electrical charge. SEM images were taken at 25 kV voltage and 5000 K magnification using the Zeiss Evo MA10 at Iztech T.A.M. (Tümleşik Araştırma Merkezi).

2.2.4.3. FT-IR (Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy)

FT-IR was performed to characterize the molecular bonds of the BC samples and to determine the functional groups in the structure of BC. This analysis was used to determine whether the BC collected from different media were the same, the state of the bonds in the structure, the binding sites and whether the structure was aromatic or aliphatic. Scans were done at 4000-400 cm-1 wavelength. FT-IR was done according to Ciolacu et al., 2011 and Azzaoui et al., 2017 using the FT-IR spectrometer (PerkinElmer, Spectrum Two) at Iztech T.A.M. (Tümleşik Araştırma Merkezi).

CHAPTER 3

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

3.1. Chemical Content of Hazelnut Shell

Lignin, cellulose and hemicellulose percentages of lignocellulosic materials may differ in different types of the same materials, even in the same material collected at different times. Considering the existence of these differences, it was necessary to determine the content of the hazelnut shell. The content of the hazelnut shell was determined for evaluating pretreatment effectiveness. The lignin content of the hazelnut shell was measured as 42.09%. Studies by Yanik et al., 2008 and Demirbas, 2005, found almost the same percentage of lignin in the hazelnut shell: 41.83% and 42.1%, respectively. Lignin was the most abundant substance in the hazelnut shell. Cellulose and hemicellulose contents were lower than lignin content with 21.84% cellulose in the hazelnut shell. Uzuner et al., 2017 and Demirbas, 2005 found that the content of cellulose in hazelnut shells was 24.2% and 25.2% respectively. In the current work, the hemicellulose content of the hazelnut shell was found to be 22.99%, very similar to the amount of cellulose. Hassan et al., 2018 found that the hemicellulose content of hazelnut shells was 23%. In addition to these substances, the hazelnut shell included 1.62% ash, 10.57% fat, and 2.34% protein as shown in Table 3.1. When all these results were compared, it was determined that approximately 45% of the hazelnut shell could be converted into monosaccharides. Considering the high amount of lignin, more effective pretreatment methods were applied.

Table 3.1. Chemical content of hazelnut shell.

Substance	Percentage
Moisture	9.03 ± 0.61
Ash	1.62 ± 0.02
Total Fat	10.57 ± 0.9
Protein	2.34 ± 0.45
Extractives	13.08 ± 0.27
Lignin	42.09 ± 1.49
Hemicellulose	22.99 ± 0.11
Cellulose	21.84 ± 1.28

3.2. Chemical Pretreatment and Enzymatic Hydrolysis

Hazelnut shells were pretreated with different chemicals in different ratios. Chemically pretreated samples were incubated with Celtic Ctec2 cellulase enzyme to release sugar. After incubation, total sugar content was determined with the DNS-assay. As a control group, biologically pretreated hazelnut shell was used. Statistical analysis was performed using LSD methods via SPSS. When untreated (UT) was compared with acid pretreated samples, there was no significant difference between the acid pretreated samples. Despite pretreatments with four different acids (H₂SO₄, HCl, H₃PO₄, and HNO₃) at four different concentrations, all of the samples treated with acid had approximately 24% total sugar. The reason for not observing a significant difference between acid pretreated samples and UT was hypothesized resulting from the conversion of sugars to 5hydromethylfurfural (HMF) at high temperatures and in an acidic environment. Rahmawati et al., 2020 showed the effect of higher temperature and acidic concentration on converting glucose to HMF. Unlike the acid pretreated samples, those treated with alkaline solutions (list bases here) showed significant differences with the UT sample. Different alkali treatments also differed from each other. PH1 and SH3 samples had the highest sugar concentrations of approximately 38%. These treatments resulted in significantly more sugar than all but one other treatment (SH2).. SH1 had the lowest sugar concentra- tion among the alkaline pretreated samples (32%), however, this treatment still resulted in a higher total sugars than the best acid pretreatment. Considering all of these results, it was determined that SH3 or PH1 treatment should be used for the experiments aimed at optimizing BC production.



Figure 3.1. Measured sugar concentration after enzymatic hydrolysis.

3.3. Optimization of BC Production

In order to improve BC production, optimal conditions must be provided to the bacterium by making changes to growth conditions. While making these changes, the environmental impact of the BC production system was taken into consideration. Some optimizations were made to HS medium, which is a widely-used growth medium for the bacteria. These optimizations were applied to the medium using pretreated hazelnut shells as a sugar source. The decisions on optimal conditions were made based on the BC weights produced. When the bacteria are transferred from the old medium to fresh medium, a certain amount is taken from the old medium and transferred to the fresh medium. The ratio of this transferred volume to the total volume is called the inoculation

rate. Studies have found different optimum inoculation rates for *gluconacetobacter xylinus*. Chandrasekaran et al., 2017, R. Jaramillo et al., 2013, and Xiao et al., 2010 found the optimum inoculation rate was 10% for Gluconacetobacter xylinus. Farrag et al., 2019 found the best inoculation rate to be 8%, while Zhou et al. 2010 found it to be 12%. In studies on other BC-producing bacteria, Tang WeiHua et al., 2009 worked with Gluconacetobacter oboediens and found the optimum inoculation rate for this bacterium to be 8%. In another study by Farrag et al., 2019, this value was found to be 7% for Gluconacetobacter hansenii. This difference in the studies made it necessary to test inoculation rate for optimization in our system. Thus in order to determine optimum inoculation rate, 1%, 4%, 7%, 10%, 13% inoculation rates were tried. The least yield was obtained in the experiment performed with 1% inoculation rate, and significant differences were found between this yield and those obtained with rates of 7% and higher. When these data were examined, 10% inoculation rate was clearly the optimal value.



Figure 3.2. The inoculation rate effect on BC producing.

pH plays a critical role in metabolic activities and there is an optimal pH value at which each microorganism can grow. Some studies have been carried out to determine the optimum pH in BC production, and as a result, the optimum pH range has been delimited between 4.32 and 7 as shown in Table 3.2. It must be taken into account that these previous results are dependent on the many different parameters used in each study.

By examining all these data, it was deemed appropriate to carry out pH studies between 4.5 and 7 at 0.5 unit intervals.

Microorganism	Optimal	Reference
	pН	
Gluconacetobacter xylinus TJU-D2	4.32	Du et al., 2020
G. xylinus ATCC 23768	4.5	J. H. Lin et al.,
		2011
Acetobacter xylinum from MARDI (Malaysia Agricultural	5.15	(Nazeri, 2012)
Research and Development Institute)		
Gluconacetobacter xylinus IFO 13693	5.6	(R. Jaramillo et al.,
		2013)
Glucoacetobacter xylinum BC-11	6	Zhao et al., 2018
Gluconacetobacter xylinus C18	6.5	Singh et al., 2017
Acetobacter senegalensis MA1	7	(Aswini et al.,
		2020)
Gluconacetobacter xylinus CH001	7.3	Xiao et al., 2010

Table 3.2. Optimal pH for various microorganisms.

When BC obtained from incubation at different pHs were examined, the maximum amounts (approximately 1750 mg/L) were obtained at pH 6 and pH 7. When these two values were compared statistically, there was no significant difference between them, however, they were significantly greater than the yields obtained at other pH levels. The amount of BC produced generally decreased with the decrease in pH. Moreover, with the decrease in pH, it became difficult to remove BC from the culture without structural deterioration. Thus, as a result of these analyses, it was determined that low pH caused significant decreases in BC yield and quality. The pH measured before pH adjustment was found to be around 6.25. For this reason, 6 was chosen as the optimum pH because it can adjust the pH using less chemicals.



Figure 3.3. The pH effect on BC producing.

Unless fresh medium is added regularly, the bacteria begin to die and cannot produce BC. It is important to find the time at which BC production is discontinued or reduced because time is one of the most valuable things in the industry. Therefore, the day on which BC production stopped and the optimum length of culture had to be determined. In studies on BC production, the optimum number of culture days has been determined to be between 7 and 16 days. Singh et al., 2017 and Feng et al., 2015 found the optimum day to be 7 in their studies. Alemam et al., 2021 and Du et al., 2020 determined the optimum day as 8 in their studies. While Raiszadeh-Jahromi et al., 2020 determined the optimum day as 10, Farrag et al., 2019 determined the optimum day as 12 days, R. D. Jaramillo et al., 2014 determined it as 14 days, and Zhang et al., 2021 determined it as 16 days. When the culture times were compared in the current experiment, the least BC production occurred on the 4th and 7th days, and significant differences were found between the BC amounts produced on the other days (3.4). When the BC production on the 10th day was compared with the yield from longer culture, no significant difference was found. Considering these data, the optimum length was determined as 10 days, and the difference was emphasized by dividing the amount of BC produced for each day by the number of days. As a result of these calculations, the lowest efficiency was seen on the 4th day with 143 mg/day, and the highest efficiency was seen on the 10th day with 179.7 mg/day. When we look at this efficiency calculation, a decrease is observed starting from the 10th day.



Figure 3.4. The incubation time effect on BC producing.

In addition to culture time, inoculation rate, and pH parameters optimized on HS medium, the medium was prepared using hazelnut shells in line with the results obtained from acid and base chemical pretreatments and these conditions were applied. It was determined that xylose coming from hemicellulose would also be present in the total sugar obtained from chemical pretreatments, so it was aimed to prepare alternative cultures in which xylose could be used efficiently by the bacteria. The hazelnut shells, which were pre-treated with 1% potassium hydroxide, were then incubated with the Celtic Ctec2 cellulase enzyme to ensure that the sugars were soluble in the buffer solution. The amount of reducing sugar was determined by the DNS method and added to the medium at a rate of 20 grams of sugar per liter. Other components were completed with the same volume of distilled water as the HS medium. In order to observe the effect of the presence of ethanol in the prepared medium on BC production, media without ethanol, 1% ethanol and 2% ethanol were also prepared. When cultures grown in these different media were examined, it was determined that there was no significant difference between HS2 and E0 and that all other cultures had significant differences between each other (Figure 3.5). Based on the yield of BC, HS1 medium had the highest efficiency.



Figure 3.5. The effect of alternative media on BC producing.

According to the obtained data, the highest BC yield (2369 mg/L) was achieved with 10% inoculation, 10 days, pH 6, and 1% ethanol in the medium.

3.4. Characterization of BC

The results of alternative cultures created under optimum conditions were evaluated based on BC weights. Characterization studies were carried out on BC to determine the relationship between the weights of BC samples and other physicochemical properties. The first of these studies was water retention capacity. While determining the water retention capacity, the amount of water each gram of BC holds was determined (Figure 3.6). This equation was calculated as (liquid weight-dry weight/dry weight) x100. When the water retention capacities of bacterial celluloses taken from different cultures were compared, significant decreases were observed in the cultures to which ethanol was added (HS1, HS2, E1, E2). Bacterial cellulose produced by bacteria growing in their own medium without ethanol (E0) had the highest water retention capacity and this value was significantly higher than those obtained from the other media. Characterization of the molecular bonds in the BC was performed with FT-IR to identify functional groups. It was determined that the samples from different culture conditions had similar spectral properties to each other. Results are shown in Figure 3.7.



Figure 3.6. Water holding capacities of BC.



Figure 3.7. FT-IR results of BC.

C-O-C stretching at 1100 cm¹⁻ was detected in all samples, indicating that structural integrity was preserved. The C-O-C stretch shows the ether bond between glucose units. While the peak seen at 1050 cm⁻¹ determines purity, the C-O-C stretch can vary between 1020 and 1160 cm¹⁻. As seen in the examples, a value of 1100 cm⁻¹ was obtained with the BC obtained from hazelnut shells. These samples show the abundance of the crystalline region. The water absorption peak (1640 cm¹⁻) is similar in all samples. This peak, based on the interaction of water and the OH ion, is a measure of the moisture

content and water holding capacity of the sample. This shows that the water retention capacities of the different samples are similar. Looking at the peaks at 2900 cm¹⁻ that occur in the presence of the CH group, the carbon skeleton has similar density and structural features are preserved among the samples. The peaks at 3400 cm¹⁻, which occurred in the presence of the OH group, appeared broad and distinct in all samples. The broad appearance of these peaks shows that the amorphous region is reduced and confirms the results from the peaks formed in C-O-C stretching. It was determined that the samples were of high purity due to the clear nature of the peaks formed as a result of OH and CH.

The FT-IR results of BC and plant cellulose produced from Nata De Coco by Halib et al., 2012 and BC obtained by Surma-Slusarska and Matejak, 2009 were compared with each other and with pure cellulose as shown in Figure 3.8. When the peaks in this graph were examined and compared with the hazelnut shell results, it was determined that the BC produced from Nata De Coco and hazelnut shells had similar structures.



Figure 3.8. Comparison of FT-IR results of different types of cellulose BC (a) from Surma-Ślusarska et al. (2008) and BC (b) from nata de coco.

In Figure 3.9. reveal the structural differences of bacterial celluloses produced in different media. While the cellulose obtained in the hazelnut shell medium (A) exhibited

a dense and compact structure, in the medium containing hazelnut shells and 1% ethanol (B), the gaps between the fibers increased and a looser, irregular structure was observed. In the medium (C) containing hazelnut shells and 2% ethanol, the gaps between the fibers became wider and the structure became more open and loose. Cellulose produced in standard medium (D) has a tightly knit and dense structure, and there are no obvious gaps between the fibers. With the addition of 1% ethanol to the standard medium (E), the gaps between the fibers increased and the structure became looser and irregular.



Figure 3.9. SEM Images of BC a) Hazelnut shell, b) hazelnut shell with 1% EtOH, c) hazelnut shell with 2% EtOH, d) HS medium.

With the addition of 2% ethanol to the standard medium (F), the fibers exhibited a very loose and irregular structure, the voids increased significantly and the fiber density decreased. In general, the addition of ethanol caused the fibers to have a looser and irregular structure, while the hazelnut shell medium created a more dense and compact structure than the standard medium. These structural differences reveal the effects of medium components and ethanol on bacterial cellulose production.

CHAPTER 4

CONCLUSION

In this study, hazelnut shells were successfully utilized as a sustainable and ecofriendly source for bacterial cellulose (BC) production using *Gluconacetobacter xylinus*. The optimal conditions for BC production were identified, including a 10% inoculation rate, pH 6, a 10-day incubation period, and the addition of 1% ethanol in the medium. Among the various pretreatment methods tested, alkaline pretreatment with 1% potassium hydroxide (KOH) and 3% sodium hydroxide (NaOH) yielded the highest sugar concentrations, demonstrating the effectiveness of these methods in releasing sugars from hazelnut shells. The study confirmed that hazelnut shells, which are typically considered agricultural waste, can be repurposed as a valuable raw material for BC production. The findings suggest that the use of hazelnut shells not only provides an alternative carbon source for BC production but also contributes to waste valorization and environmental sustainability. Additionally, the BC produced under the optimized conditions exhibited high purity and structural integrity, making it suitable for potential applications in biomedical, cosmetic, and food industries. 2.4 g/L BC was produced in the end of the this study. Similarly, Yang et al. (2024) enhanced BC production from 2.2 g/L to 6.8 g/L by overexpressing the *bcsc* and *bcsd* genes in *Gluconacetobacter xylinus* under optimized conditions using an enriched HS medium (MgSO₄ 5.7 g/L and trisodium citrate 20 g/L), pH 5.4-5.8, and a 10-day incubation period at 30°C. Zhao et al. (2018) also produced 1.117 g/L BC using carbon sources from polysaccharide fermentation wastewater in combination with HS medium, incubating Gluconacetobacter xylinum BC-11 at pH 7.0 and 30°C for 10 days. Gomez et al. (2013) reported a yield of 0.85 g/L in 4 days using Gluconacetobacter sacchari in HS medium with carbon from dry olive mill waste at pH 5.0 and 30°C under static conditions. Additionally, Hyun et al. used makgeolli sludge as a carbon source, achieving 1.67 g/L BC in 7 days by incubating Gluconacetobacter *xylinus* at pH 5.0 and 30°C. These studies highlight the effectiveness of alternative carbon sources like agricultural and industrial waste in optimizing BC production. The findings

suggest that BC production can be significantly improved through genetic engineering, optimized growth conditions, and the use of cost-effective feedstocks, offering promising opportunities for sustainable and scalable BC production. Future studies could explore further optimization of the production process, including the use of different microbial strains and pretreatment techniques, to enhance BC yield and quality. Moreover, the potential for scaling up this process for industrial applications should be investigated, as it holds promise for large-scale production of BC from renewable and low-cost feedstocks like hazelnut shells.

REFERENCES

- Adney, Bill, and John Baker. 1996. "Measurement of Cellulase Activities Laboratory Analytical Procedure (LAP)." https://www.nrel.gov/docs/gen/fy08/42628.pdf.
- Ahmed, Ayman, Ahmed Saleh, Nadia Soliman, Maha Ibrahim, Nashwa El-Shinnawy, and Yasser Abdel-Fattah. 2019. "Biocellulose Production by Gluconacetobacter Hansenii ATCC 23769: Application of Statistical Experimental Designs and Cellulose Membrane Characterization." *Egyptian Journal of Chemistry* 62 (11): 1-35. https://doi.org/10.21608/ejchem.2019.9975.1662.
- Alemam, Ahmed, Tharwat Shaheen, Saad El-Din Hassan, Said Desouky, and Mamdouh El-Gamal. 2021. "Production Enhancement of Bacterial Cellulose Nanofiber Using Local Komagataeibacter Xylinus SB3.1 under Static Conditions" *Egyptian Journal of Chemistry* 64 (4): 2213-2221. https://doi.org/10.21608/ejchem.2021.52972.3096.
- Alex Selvanayagam Rajangam. 2008. "Discovery and Characterization of a Novel Microtubule Associated Protein Involved in Cellulose Biosynthesis," (Doctoral dissertation, KTH)
- Ando, Hidenori, Takashi Mochizuki, Lila, Shunsuke Akagi, Kenji Tajima, Kenji Fujita, Taro Shimizu, et al. 2021. "Doxorubicin Embedded into Nanofibrillated Bacterial Cellulose (NFBC) Produces a Promising Therapeutic Outcome for Peritoneally Metastatic Gastric Cancer in Mice Models via Intraperitoneal Direct Injection." Nanomaterials 11 (7): 1697–97. https://doi.org/10.3390/nano11071697.
- Arenas-Cárdenas, Priscila, Alberto López-López, Gabriela Eleonora Moeller-Chávez, and Elizabeth León-Becerril. 2016. "Current Pretreatments of Lignocellulosic Residues in the Production of Bioethanol." Waste and Biomass Valorization 8 (1): 161–81. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12649-016-9559-4.
- Aswini, K., No Gopal, and Sivakumar Uthandi. 2020. "Optimized Culture Conditions for Bacterial Cellulose Production by Acetobacter Senegalensis MA1." BMC Biotechnology 20 (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12896-020-00639-6.
- Ayeni, Ausgustine O, Oresagun Oyinlola M, Oladimeji Temitayo E. 2015. "Compositional Analysis of Lignocellulosic Materials: Evaluation of an

Economically Viable Method Suitable for Woody and Non-Woody Biomass," 4(4): 14-19.

- Azzaoui, Khalil., Mejdoubi Elmiloud., Lamhamdi Abdellatif., Jodeh Shehdeh., Hamed Othman., Berrabah, Mohammed., Salghi Rachid., Errich, Abderrazak., Ríos Angel, and Zougagh, Mohammed., 2017. '' Preparation and characterization of biodegradable nanocomposites derived from carboxymethyl cellulose and hydroxyapatite'', *Carbohydrate Polymers*. 167(7): 59-69 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2017.02.092.
- Akoğlu, Aylin, Çakır İlker, Akoğlu İlker T., Karahan Aynur G., and Çakmakçı, Lütfü M. 2015. "Effect of Bacterial Cellulose as a Fat Replacer on Some Quality Characteristics of Fat Reduced Sucuk." *GIDA - Journal of Food* 40 (3): 133–39. https://doi.org/10.15237/gida.GD15020.
- Barbara Surma-Slusarska, and Mieczysław Matejak. 2009. "Erfindungen, Aus Gedrucktem Papier Neues Papier Zu Machen." Annals of WULS Forestry and Wood Technology 67. http://yadda.icm.edu.pl/yadda/element/bwmeta1.element.agro-70bac081-315d-40e1-9e26-91981f270235Banner, Michael., "Why and how (not) to value the environment", Cambridge University Press, 1999 (Accessed 01.06.2024).
- Brandão, Pedro R., Maria T. B. Crespo, and Francisco X. Nascimento. 2022. "Phylogenomic and Comparative Analyses Support the Reclassification of Several Komagataeibacter Species as Novel Members of the Novacetimonas Gen. Nov. And Bring New Insights into the Evolution of Cellulose Synthase Genes." *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology* 72 (2):005252.
- Brusseau, Mark, L., Ian, L. Pepper, and Charles, P. Gerba. 2019. "The Extent of Global Pollution." *Environmental and Pollution Science*, (pp. 3–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-814719-1.00001-x.
- Busuioc, Cristina, Gabriela Isopencu, Adela Banciu, Daniel-Dumitru Banciu, Ovidiu Oprea, Alexandra Mocanu, Iuliana Deleanu, et al. 2022. "Bacterial Cellulose Hybrid Composites with Calcium Phosphate for Bone Tissue Regeneration." *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 23 (24): 16180–80. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms232416180.
- Carina Aline Prado, Felipe Antônio, T M Rocha, Salvador Sánchez-Muñoz, Fernanda Gonçalves Barbosa, Ruly Terán Hilares, Mónica María Cruz-Santos, Gabriel, S.S. da Silva, and Santos. 2022. "A Review on Recent Developments in Hydrodynamic

Cavitation and Advanced Oxidative Processes for Pretreatment of Lignocellulosic Materials." *Bioresource Technology* 345 (2): 126458–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2021.126458.

- Chandrasekaran, Prathna T., Naimat Kalim Bari, and Sharmistha Sinha. 2017. "Enhanced Bacterial Cellulose Production from Gluconobacter Xylinus Using Super Optimal Broth." *Cellulose* 24 (10): 4367–81. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10570-017-1419-2.
- Chau, Chi-Fai, P.At Yang, Chao-Ming Yu, and Gow-Chin Yen. 2008. "Investigation on the Lipid- and Cholesterol-Lowering Abilities of Biocellulose." *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 56 (6): 2291–95. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf7035802.
- Center. 2024. "Food Additive Status List." U.S. Food and Drug Administration. 2024. https://www.fda.gov/food/food-additives-petitions/food-additive-statuslist#ftnB..
- Chen, Shiyan, Wei Shen, Feng Yu, and Huaping Wang. 2009. "Kinetic and Thermodynamic Studies of Adsorption of Cu2+ and Pb2+ onto Amidoximated Bacterial Cellulose." *Polymer Bulletin* 63 (2): 283–97. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00289-009-0088-1.
- Cherng, Juin-Hong, Sheng-Chieh Chou, Chin-Li Chen, Yi-Wen Wang, Shu-Jen Chang, Gang-Yi Fan, Fang-Shiuan Leung, and En Meng. 2021. "Bacterial Cellulose as a Potential Bio-Scaffold for Effective Re-Epithelialization Therapy." *Pharmaceutics* 13 (10): 1592. https://doi.org/10.3390/pharmaceutics13101592.
- Choi, Soon Mo, Kummara Madhusudana Rao, Sun Mi Zo, Eun Joo Shin, and Sung Soo Han. 2022. "Bacterial Cellulose and Its Applications." *Polymers* 14 (6): 1080. https://doi.org/10.3390/polym14061080.
- Ciolacu, Diana, Florin Ciolacu, and Valentin I Popa. 2011. "Amorphous Cellulose -Structure and Characterization" January.
- Coseri, Sergiu. 2021. "Insights on Cellulose Research in the Last Two Decades in Romania" *Polymers* 13 (5): 689. https://doi.org/10.3390/polym13050689
- Demirbaş, Ayhan., 2015 '' Thermochemical conversion of hazelnut shell to gaseous products for production of hydrogen'', *Energy Sources*, 27(4), 339-347.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00908310490441728

- Dev, Chandra, Syed Bilal Jilani, and Syed Shams Yazdani. 2022. "Adaptation on Xylose Improves Glucose–Xylose Co-Utilization and Ethanol Production in a Carbon Catabolite Repression (CCR) Compromised Ethanologenic Strain." Microbial Cell Factories 21 (1): 154. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12934-022-01879-1.
- Du, Renpeng, Yu Wang, Fangkun Zhao, Xiaoxiao Qiao, Qiaozhi Song, Suyan Li, Rak-Chon Kim, et al. 2018. "Production, Optimization and Partial Characterization of Bacterial Cellulose from Gluconacetobacter Xylinus TJU-D2." Waste and Biomass Valorization 11 (5): 1681–90. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12649-018-0440-5.
- FAO. 2022. "Hunger and Food Insecurity." Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations. 2022. https://www.fao.org/hunger/en/.
- FAOSTAT. 2023. "Crops and Livestock Products." Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. 2023. https://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QCL.
- Feng, Xianchao, Niamat Ullah, Xuejiao Wang, Xuchun Sun, Chenyi Li, Yun Bai, Lin Chen, and Zhixi Li. 2015. "Characterization of Bacterial Cellulose ByGluconacetobacter HanseniiCGMCC 3917." Journal of Food Science 80 (10): E2217–27. https://doi.org/10.1111/1750-3841.13010.
- Fernandes, Isabela de Andrade Arruda, Alessandra Cristina Pedro, Valéria Rampazzo Ribeiro, Débora Gonçalves Bortolini, Mellany Sarah Cabral Ozaki, Giselle Maria Maciel, and Charles Windson Isidoro Haminiuk. 2020. "Bacterial Cellulose: From Production Optimization to New Applications." *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules* 164 (12): 2598–2611. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2020.07.255.
- Geyer, Roland. 2020. "Production, Use, and Fate of Synthetic Polymers." *Plastic Waste and Recycling*, (pp. 13–32). https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-817880-5.00002-5.
- Goldstein, Ilana .S. 2004. "Wood Formation and Properties | Chemical Properties of Wood." *Encyclopedia of Forest Sciences*, 1(1) 1835–1839. https://doi.org/10.1016/b0-12-145160-7/00042-9.
- Gomes, Fábio P., Nuno H. C. S. Silva, Eliane Trovatti, Luísa S. Serafim, Maria F. Duarte, Armando J. D. Silvestre, Carlos Pascoal Neto, and Carmen S. R. Freire. 2013.

"Production of Bacterial Cellulose by Gluconacetobacter Sacchari Using Dry Olive Mill Residue." Biomass and Bioenergy 55 (8): 205–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2013.02.004.

- Goodman, David C. 2007. "Expanding the Medical Workforce." *BMJ* 335 (7613): 218–19. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.39265.448715.80.
- Guo, Yan, Xianhao Zhang, Wenhui Hao, Yumei Xie, Lin Chen, Zhixi Li, Beiwei Zhu, and Xianchao Feng. 2018. "Nano-Bacterial Cellulose/Soy Protein Isolate Complex Gel as Fat Substitutes in Ice Cream Model." *Carbohydrate Polymers* 198 (10): 620–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2018.06.078.
- Halib, Nadia, Mohd, and Ishak Ahmad. 2012. "Physicochemical Properties and Characterization of Nata de Coco from Local Food Industries as a Source of Cellulose." Sains Malaysiana 41 (2): 205–11. https://www.ukm.my/jsm/pdf_files/SM-PDF-41-2-2012/08%20Nadia.pdf (Accessed 17.05.2024).
- Horue, Manuel, Jhonatan Miguel Silva, Ignacio Rivero Berti, Larissa Reis Brandão, Hernane da Silva Barud, and Guillermo R. Castro. 2023. "Bacterial Cellulose-Based Materials as Dressings for Wound Healing." *Pharmaceutics* 15 (2): 424. https://doi.org/10.3390/pharmaceutics15020424.
- Huang, Caoxing, Qing Ye, Jian Dong, Lan Li, Min Wang, Yunyang Zhang, Yibo Zhang, Xucai Wang, Peng Wang, and Qing Jiang. 2023. "Biofabrication of Natural Au/Bacterial Cellulose Hydrogel for Bone Tissue Regeneration via In-Situ Fermentation." *Smart Materials in Medicine* 4 (1): 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smaim.2022.06.001.
- Iguchi, Masahiro., Shinya Yamanaka, and Arief Budhiono. 2000. Bacterial cellulose, a masterpiece of nature's arts. *Journal of Materials Science* 35 (2): 261–270. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1004775229149.
- Jadczak, Krzysztof, and Wioletta Ochędzan-Siodłak. 2023. "Bacterial Cellulose: Biopolymer with Novel Medical Applications." *Journal of Biomaterials Applications* 38 (1): 51–63. https://doi.org/10.1177/08853282231184734.
- Jaramillo, Ruben, Olga Perna, Adrian Benito Revollo, Carlos Arrieta, and Edgardo Escamilla. 2013. "Efecto de Diferentes Concentraciones de Fructosa Sobre La Producción de Celulosa Bacteriana En Cultivo Estático." *Revista Colombiana de Ciencia Animal RECIA* 5 (1): 116-130.

https://doi.org/10.24188/recia.v5.n1.2013.476.

- John, Rimmy D. 2015. "A Study on the Utility Value of Cosmetics to the Consumers." Scholedge International Journal of Management & Development ISSN 2394-3378 1 (2): 26–29.
- Jonas, Rainer, and Luiz F. Farah. 1998. "Production and Application of Microbial Cellulose." *Polymer Degradation and Stability* 59 (1-3): 101–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0141-3910(97)00197-3.
- Jo, Yi, Hyun., Biswanath, Mahanty., Chang, Gyun, Kim. 2014. Utilization of Makgeolli Sludge Filtrate (MSF) as Low-Cost Substrate for Bacterial Cellulose Production by Gluconacetobacter xylinus. Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology, 172(2): 3748-3760. http://doi.org/10.1007/S12010-014-0810-9
- Júnior, Jayme César da Silva, Ísis Meireles Mafaldo, Isabelle de Lima Brito, and Angela Maria Tribuzy de Magalhães Cordeiro. 2022. "Kombucha: Formulation, Chemical Composition, and Therapeutic Potentialities." *Current Research in Food Science* 5 (1): 360–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crfs.2022.01.023.
- Khan, Shahid Anis, and Partha Ghosh. 2005. "Medical Needs of Immigrant Populations." *BMJ* 331 (7514): 418. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.331.7514.418.
- Klemm, Dieter, Brigitte Heublein, Hans-Peter Fink, and Andreas Bohn. 2005. "Cellulose: Fascinating Biopolymer and Sustainable Raw Material." *Angewandte Chemie International Edition* 44 (22): 3358–93. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.200460587.
- Lahiri, Dibyajit, Moupriya Nag, Bandita Dutta, Ankita Dey, Tanmay Sarkar, Siddhartha Pati, Hisham Atan Edinur, Zulhisyam Abdul Kari, Noor Haslina Mohd Noor, and Rina Rani Ray. 2021. "Bacterial Cellulose: Production, Characterization, and Application as Antimicrobial Agent." *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 22 (23): 12984. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms222312984.
- Li, Huaimeng, Mengxiang Ye, Xi Zhang, Haimin Zhang, Guozhong Wang, and Yunxia Zhang. 2021. "Hierarchical Porous Iron Metal–Organic Gel/Bacterial Cellulose Aerogel: Ultrafast, Scalable, Room-Temperature Aqueous Synthesis, and Efficient Arsenate Removal." ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces 13 (40): 47684–95. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.1c14938.
- Li, Xiao, Xiaodan Shi, Man Zou, Yudi Luo, Yali Tan, Yexu Wu, Lin Chen, and Pei Li.

2015. "Characteristics of Morphological and Physiological Changes during the Autolysis Process of Saccharomyces Cerevisiae FX-2." *Microbiology and Biotechnology Letters* 43 (3): 249–58. https://doi.org/10.4014/mbl.1503.03007.

- Lin, Ju Hong., Kuo, J. C., Lin, Y. J., Chen, T. Y., and Sung, W. P., 2011 "Production of bacterial cellulose by gluconacetobacter xylinus using taguchi methods" *Applied Mechanics and Materials*, 44(12): 605-609. https://doi.org/10.4028/www.scientific.net/AMM.44- 47.605
- Lin, Kuo-Wei., and Hui-Yen. Lin. 2006. "Quality Characteristics of Chinese-Style Meatball Containing Bacterial Cellulose (Nata)." *Journal of Food Science* 69 (3): SNQ107– 11. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2621.2004.tb13378.x.
- Lobo, Flávia C. M., Albina R. Franco, Emanuel M. Fernandes, and Rui L. Reis. 2021. "An Overview of the Antimicrobial Properties of Lignocellulosic Materials." *Molecules* 26 (6): 1749. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules26061749.
- Mazhar Ul-Islam, Jeoung-Hee Ha, Taous Khan, and Joong Kon Park. 2013. "Effects of Glucuronic Acid Oligomers on the Production, Structure and Properties of Bacterial Cellulose" *Carbohydrate polymers* 92 (1): 360–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2012.09.060.
- Mensah, Alfred, Pengfei Lv, Christopher Narh, Jieyu Huang, Di Wang, and Qufu Wei. 2019. "Sequestration of Pb(II) Ions from Aqueous Systems with Novel Green Bacterial Cellulose Graphene Oxide Composite." *Materials* 12 (2): 218. https://doi.org/10.3390/ma12020218.
- Miranda, Breanna, Nicole M. Lawton, Sean R. Tachibana, Natasja A. Swartz, and W. Paige Hall. 2016. "Titration and HPLC Characterization of Kombucha Fermentation: A Laboratory Experiment in Food Analysis." *Journal of Chemical Education* 93 (10): 1770–75. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jchemed.6b00329.
- Mitchell, Victoria. 2004. "Mary Schoeser, World Textiles: A Concise History." *Textile* 2 (1): 108–11. https://doi.org/10.2752/147597504778052874.
- Mohite, Bhavna V., and Satish V. Patil. 2014. "Bacterial Cellulose of Gluconoacetobacter Hanseniias a Potential Bioadsorption Agent for Its Green Environment Applications." Journal of Biomaterials Science, Polymer Edition 25 (18): 2053– 65. https://doi.org/10.1080/09205063.2014.970063.

- Morais, João, Rosa, Men, Lidyane Dias Nascimento, Diego Ebling, and A R Cassales. 2013. "Extraction and Characterization of Nanocellulose Structures from Raw Cotton Linter." *Carbohydrate Polymers* 91 (1): 229–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2012.08.010.
- Navya, P. V., Varnakumar Gayathri, Debasis Samanta, and Srinivasan Sampath. 2022. "Bacterial Cellulose: A Promising Biopolymer with Interesting Properties and Applications." *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules* 220 (11): 435–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2022.08.056.
- Nazeri Muhammad Azlan. 2012. "Optimization of Bacterial Cellulose Production by Using Response Surface Methodology (RSM)Effect of pH,Temperature and Concentration of Fermentation Medium,". (Doctoral dissertation, UMP).
- Nazir, Muhammad, Zaman Tahir, Majid Niaz Akhtar, and Mohd Zulkifly Abdullah. 2019. "Biosorbents and Composite Cation Exchanger for the Treatment of Heavy Metals," (1): 135–59. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-10430-6_7.
- Oliveira, Thais Jardim, Talita Cristina Mena Segato, Gabriel Pereira Machado, Denise Grotto, and Angela Faustino Jozala. 2022. "Evolution of Bacterial Cellulose in Cosmetic Applications: An Updated Systematic Review." *Molecules* 27 (23): 8341. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules27238341.
- Pocha, Chaitanya Kumar Reddy, Shir Reen Chia, Wen Yi Chia, Apurav Krishna Koyande, Saifuddin Nomanbhay, and Kit Wayne Chew. 2022. "Utilization of Agricultural Lignocellulosic Wastes for Biofuels and Green Diesel Production." *Chemosphere* 290 (3): 133246. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2021.133246.
- Poyrazoğlu, Esin, H Halil Biyik, and Öznur Çetin. 2021. "Environmentally Friendly Bacterial Cellulose Films for Food Packaging." *Eurasian Journal of Food Science* and Technology 5 (2): 127–35. https://dergipark.org.tr/tr/download/articlefile/1765225.
- Raiszadeh-Jahromi, Yasaman, Mahmoud Rezazadeh-Bari, Hadi Almasi, and Saber Amiri. 2020. "Optimization of Bacterial Cellulose Production by Komagataeibacter Xylinus PTCC 1734 in a Low-Cost Medium Using Optimal Combined Design." *Journal of Food Science and Technology* 57 (7): 2524–33. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13197-020-04289-6.

Raut, Mahendra P, Emmanuel Asare, Mohammad Daniel, Elliot N Amadi, and Ipsita Roy.

2023. "Bacterial Cellulose-Based Blends and Composites: Versatile Biomaterials for Tissue Engineering Applications" 24 (2): 986–86. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms24020986.

- R. Rebelo, Ana, Andrew J. Archer, Xiuli Chen, Changqing Liu, Guang Yang, and Yang Liu. 2018. "Dehydration of Bacterial Cellulose and the Water Content Effects on Its Viscoelastic and Electrochemical Properties." *Science and Technology of Advanced Materials* 19 (1): 203–11. https://doi.org/10.1080/14686996.2018.1430981.
- Sampath, Udeni Gunathilake T. M., Yern Chee Ching, Cheng Hock Chuah, Johari J. Sabariah, and Pai-Chen Lin. 2016. "Fabrication of Porous Materials from Natural/Synthetic Biopolymers and Their Composites." *Materials* 9 (12): 991. https://doi.org/10.3390/ma9120991.
- Sasmal, Soumya, and Kaustubha Mohanty. 2017. "Pretreatment of Lignocellulosic Biomass toward Biofuel Production." *Biofuel and Biorefinery Technologies*, (11): 203–21. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-67678-4_9.
- Shahriari-Khalaji, Mina, Maryam Zarkesh, and Zahra Nozhat. 2021. "Application of Bacterial Nanocellulose in the Cancer Drug Delivery: A Review." Current Pharmaceutical Design 27 (4): 3656-3665 https://doi.org/10.2174/1381612827666210412150445.
- Sharmin, Tajnuba, and Neaj Ahmed. 2021. "Development of Nata de Coco and Strawberry Flavored Nata de Coco Drink and Comparative Quality Evalution." *Science Heritage Journal* 5 (2): 34–40. https://doi.org/10.26480/gws.02.2021.34.40.
- Silva, Liliada G, Amanda V Albuquerque, M Pinto, Rafaela S Ferraz-Carvalho, A Aguiar, and Esdras M Lins. 2021. "Bacterial Cellulose an Effective Material in the Treatment of Chronic Venous Ulcers of the Lower Limbs." *Journal of Materials Science: Materials in Medicine* 32 (7). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10856-021-06539-1.
- Singh, Omchand, Parmjit S. Panesar, and Harish K. Chopra. 2017. "Response Surface Optimization for Cellulose Production from Agro Industrial Waste by Using New Bacterial Isolate Gluconacetobacter Xylinus C18." Food Science and Biotechnology 26 (4): 1019–28. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10068-017-0143-x.

Song, Shen, Zhao Liu, Ji Zhang, Caizhen Jiao, Ling Ding, and Shengrong Yang. 2020.

"Synthesis and Adsorption Properties of Novel Bacterial Cellulose/Graphene Oxide/Attapulgite Materials for Cu and Pb Ions in Aqueous Solutions." *Materials* 13 (17): 3703. https://doi.org/10.3390/ma13173703.

- Song, Yanliang, Jingzhi Zhang, Xu Zhang, and Tianwei Tan. 2015. "The Correlation between Cellulose Allomorphs (I and II) and Conversion after Removal of Hemicellulose and Lignin of Lignocellulose." *Bioresource Technology* 193 (10): 164–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2015.06.084.
- Stepanov, Nikolay, and Elena Efremenko. 2018. ""Deceived" Concentrated Immobilized Cells as Biocatalyst for Intensive Bacterial Cellulose Production from Various Sources" *Catalysts* 8, (1): 33. https://doi.org/10.3390/catal8010033
- Surya, Mukta, and Sundaram Gunasekaran. 2021. "A Review on Recent Scenario of Cosmetics." International Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences Review and Research 68 (1): 190-197. https://doi.org/10.47583/ijpsrr.2021.v68i01.030.
- Tang WeiHua, Li Fei, Jia YuanYuan, and Jia ShiRu. 2009. "Screening and Fermentation Conditions of Strains from Gluconacetobacter Oboediens for High-Yield Bacterial Cellulose Production." *Xiandai Shipin Keji* 25 (9): 1016–19.
- Thomas, Lynne H., V. Trevor Forsyth, Adriana Šturcová, Craig J. Kennedy, Roland P. May, Clemens M. Altaner, David C. Apperley, Timothy J. Wess, and Michael C. Jarvis. 2013. "Structure of Cellulose Microfibrils in Primary Cell Walls from Collenchyma." *Plant Physiology* 161 (1): 465–76. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.112.206359.
- Uzuner, Sibel, Ratna Rani Sharma Shivappa, and Deniz Cekmecelioglu. 2016. "Bioconversion of Alkali Pretreated Hazelnut Shells to Fermentable Sugars for Generation of High Value Products." *Waste and Biomass Valorization* 8 (2): 407– 16. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12649-016-9607-0.
- Wang, Jing, Javad Tavakoli, and Youhong Tang. 2019. "Bacterial Cellulose Production, Properties and Applications with Different Culture Methods – a Review." *Carbohydrate Polymers* 219 (9): 63–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2019.05.008.
- Wang, Xiao, and Jian-Jiang Zhong. 2022. "Improvement of Bacterial Cellulose Fermentation by Metabolic Perturbation with Mixed Carbon Sources." Process Biochemistry, 122(8): 95-102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procbio.2022.08.022.

- World Health Organization. 2024. "Global Cancer Burden Growing, amidst Mounting Need for Services." Www.who.int. https://www.who.int/news/item/01-02-2024global-cancer-burden-growing--amidst-mounting-need-for-services (Accessed 17.05.2024).
- Wu Bi, "Optimization of Fermentation Conditions for Bacterial Cellulose Production and Analysis on Cellulose Structure," *China Brewing*. https://en.cnki.com.cn/Article_en/CJFDTotal-ZNGZ201010022.htm (Accessed 16.04.2024).
- Xun, Xiaowei, Yaqiang Li, Xiangbo Zhu, Quanchao Zhang, Ying Lu, Zhiwei Yang, Yizao Wan, Fanglian Yao, Xiaoyan Deng, and Honglin Luo. 2021. "Fabrication of Robust, Shape Recoverable, Macroporous Bacterial Cellulose Scaffolds for Cartilage Tissue Engineering." *Macromolecular Bioscience* 21(9): 2100167. https://doi.org/10.1002/mabi.202100167.
- Yang, Junchuan, Mingde Du, Le Wang, Sixiang Li, Guorui Wang, Xinglong Yang, Lijuan Zhang, 2018. "Bacterial Cellulose as a Supersoft Neural Interfacing Substrate." ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces 10, 39(12): 33049– 59. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.8b12083.
- Yanik, Jale, Steve Ebale, Andrea Kruse, Mehmet Saglam, and Mithat Yüksel. 2008. "Biomass Gasification in Supercritical Water: II. Effect of Catalyst." *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy* 33, 17(9): 4520– 26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2008.06.024.
- Yang, Leyun, Xinxin Zhu, Yong Chen, and Jun Wang. 2024. "Enhanced Bacterial Cellulose Production in Gluconacetobacter Xylinus by Overexpression of Two Genes (BscC and BcsD) and a Modified Static Culture." International Journal of Biological Macromolecules 260 (3): 129552–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2024.129552.
- Yeddes, Nizar, Jamila Kalthoum Chérif, Amel Jrad, Danielle Barth, and Malika Trabelsi-Ayadi. 2012. "Supercritical SC-CO₂and Soxhlet*N*-Hexane Extract of Tunisian*Opuntia Ficus Indica*Seeds and Fatty Acids Analysis." *Journal of Lipids* 2012: 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/914693.
- Zhang, Tian-Zhen, Ling-Pu Liu, Li Ye, Wen-Chao Li, Bo Xin, Yan-Yan Xie, Shi-Ru Jia, Teng-Fei Wang, and Cheng Zhong. 2021. "The Production of Bacterial Cellulose in Gluconacetobacter Xylinus Regulated by LuxR Overexpression of Quorum Sensing System." Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 105 (20): 7801–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-021-11603-5.

- Zhao, Hongwei, Jingyuan Li, and Kaili Zhu. 2018. "Bacterial Cellulose Production From Waste Products and Fermentation Conditions Optimization." *IOP Conference Series Materials Science and Engineering* (Vol. 394, p. 022041). 022041. https://doi.org/10.1088/1757-899x/394/2/022041.
- Zheng, Maosheng, Jia Liu, and Hao Jin. 2019. "Improvement of Thermal-storage Performance of Industrial-grade Disodium Hydrogen Phosphate." *Proceedings* of the Institution of Civil Engineers - Energy 172, 3(8): 115121. https://doi.org/10.1680/jener.18.00012.
- Zhu, Xinna, Feiyu Fan, Huanna Qiu, Mengyao Shao, Di Li, Yong Yu, Changhao Bi, and Xueli Zhang. 2022. "New Xylose Transporters Support the Simultaneous Consumption of Glucose and Xylose in Escherichia Coli." *MLife* 1 (2): 156–70. https://doi.org/10.1002/mlf2.12021.